IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 95-30068

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,

Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
vVer sus

GARY AUGUST DUPAQUI ER,
Def endant - Appel | ant,

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Mddle District of Louisiana

Bef ore HI GG NBOTHAM and DUHE, Circuit Judges, and SCHWARZER, "
District Judge.

SCHWARZER, District Judge:

Def endant Gary Dupaqui er was convicted of possession of a
firearmby a convicted felon in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 922(g) (1)
(1988), using and carrying a firearmduring and in relation to a
drug trafficking crinme in violation of 18 U. S.C. §8 924(c) (1) (Supp.
1 1990), and possession of an unregistered firearmin violation of
26 U.S.C. 8§ 5861(d) (1988). He now appeal s his convictions and
sentences on all three counts. W reverse Dupaquier’s count one
conviction, affirm his count two and count three convictions,
vacate his sentences and remand for resentencing.

. FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HI STORY

* District Judge of the Northern District of California,
sitting by designation.



Prior to the arrest leading to the convictions chall enged
here, Dupaqui er was convicted in Louisiana state court of burglary
and possession of controlled substances with intent to distribute.
Based on those convictions, Dupaquier was sentenced in 1979 to a
termof five years at hard |abor. 1In July 1980, he was di scharged
from state custody.

In August 1990, Dupaquier was arrested by Louisiana
authorities and charged with possession of firearnms by a convicted
fel on, possession of cocaine with intent to distribute, and
possession of unregistered firearns. Pursuant to a plea bargain,
Dupaqui er entered a plea of nolo contendere to the charge of
possession with intent to distribute and was sentenced to ten
years’ inprisonnment at hard | abor. The other charges were dropped
and Dupaguier is currently serving his ten-year sentence.

Based on the sane conduct for which he was arrested in 1990 by
state authorities, Dupaquier was indicted in January 1994 by a
federal grand jury and charged with possession of a firearmin
violation of 18 U S. C. section 922(g)(1l), using and carrying a
firearm during and in relation to a drug trafficking crine in
violation of 18 U S.C. section 924(c)(1), and possession of a
firearmin violation of 18 U S.C. section 5861(d). According to
the indictnent, all three offenses occurred on or about August 8,
1990. Followng a trial, Dupaquier was convicted on all three
counts. Pursuant to Fed. R Cim P. 29, he filed a notion for
judgnent of acquittal on counts one and two, which the court

deni ed. Dupaqui er was then sentenced to 240 nonths on count one,

-2



less 51 nonths’ credit for time served in state prison, a

concurrent termof 36 nonths on count three, and a consecutive term

of 60 nonths on count two. He now appeals his conviction and

sentence on all counts. W have jurisdiction to hear this appeal

pursuant to 28 U . S.C. section 1291 and 18 U S.C. section 3742(a).
1. DI SCUSSI ON

A. Dupaquier’s Conviction Under 8 922(q) (1)

Count one charged Dupaquier with violation of 18 U S C
section 922(9g) (1) which makes it “unlawful for any person -- (1)
who has been convicted in any court of a crine punishable by
i nprisonnment for a termexceeding one year . . . to possess in or

af fecting commerce, any firearm. Dupaqui er chal | enges hi s
convi ction on count one on the ground that he was not “convicted’
within the neani ng of section 922(g)(1). Dupaquier does not deny
the fact of the predicate convictions upon which the prosecution
was based. He contends, however, that his civil rights were
restored by state lawprior to his arrest in 1990; thus pursuant to

18 U.S.C. 921(a)(20) (1988), he was not a convicted felon for the

pur poses of section 922(g)(1). Because the issue Dupaquier raises

is purely a question of law, our reviewis plenary. United States

v. Thomas, 991 F.2d 206, 209 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 114 S. C

607 (1993).

Enacted “to give federal effect to state statutes that fully
‘restore’ the civil rights of convicted felons where they are
released from prison . . . .,” section 921(a)(20) defines

conviction of a crinme for purposes of section 922(g)(1). Thonas,
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991 F.2d at 209. Section 921(a)(20) provides that

w] hat constitutes a conviction of such crine
shal | be determ ned in accordance with the | aw
of the jurisdiction in which the proceedi ngs

were held. Any conviction . . . for which a
person has . . . had civil rights restored
shall not be considered a conviction for

purposes of this chapter, unless such oo
restoration of civil rights expressly provides
that the person may not . . . possess
firearns.

Thus, we |l ook to Louisiana |law to determ ne whet her Dupaqui er was

a convicted felon for purposes of 922(g)(1). See Beechamv. United

States, 114 S. C. 1669, 1671 (1994). Specifically, we look to
Loui siana law to determ ne whether Dupaquier’s civil rights were
restored prior to his arrest. If his rights had been restored
under Loui siana |law, his conviction on count one nust be reversed.

To determne whether a convicted felon’s rights were
“restored” under section 921(a)(20), this court has adopted a two-
part test: W first ask whether “the state which obtained the
underlying conviction revives essentially all civil rights of
convicted felons, whether affirmatively wth individualized
certification or passively with automatic reinstatenent ”
Thomas, 991 F.2d at 213. If so, we “then determ ne whether the
def endant was neverthel ess expressly deprived of the right to
possess a firearm by sonme provision of the restoration |aw or
procedure of the state of the underlying conviction.” |[d.

Thus, we begin by asking whether Louisiana revived, either
passi vely or actively, essentially all of Dupaquier’s civil rights.
Article I, Section 20, of the Louisiana Constitution provides that

“[flull rights of citizenship shall be restored upon term nati on of
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state and federal supervision followng conviction for any
of fense.” Under the plain |anguage of the Constitution, therefore,
Dupaquier’s civil rights were fully restored upon his discharge
from cust ody.

The district court concluded, however, and the governnent now
argues, that Dupaquier’s civil rights were not restored within the
meani ng of section 921(a)(20) because the Loui siana | egi sl ature has
barred convicted fel ons who have not been pardoned fromserving on
juries. See La. Code Crim Proc. Ann. art. 401(A) (5 (West Supp.
1990) (anended 1984). In support of that argunent, the district
court and the governnent have cited our decision in Thomas for the
proposition that state | aw nust restore three key rights--the right
to vote, the right to hold public office, and the right to serve on
a jury--in order for a felon’s rights to be restored within the
meani ng of section 921(a)(20). That, however, is a faulty reading
of Thomas.

In Thomas, we did not treat the restoration of the three key
civil rights as the sine qua non of the restoration of a felon’s
rights under section 921(a)(20). I nstead, to determ ne whether
state law had restored all or essentially all of Thonmas’ civi

rights, we first | ooked to whether Texas | aw provi ded a generali zed

restoration of a felon's civil rights. See Thonmms, 991 F.2d at

214. Only after finding that “Texas neither actively nor passively
restores all or essentially all of the civil rights of crimnals”
did we | ook to whether Texas restored to a felon “the three civil

ri ghts considered key by the Ninth and Sixth Grcuits--the right to
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vote, hold public office, and serve on a jury.” Having found that
Texas provided neither a general restoration of a felon' s civi
rights nor a restoration of the three key rights, we held that
Thomas had not had his civil rights restored within the neaning of
section 921(a)(20) and was therefore a convicted fel on for purposes
of 922(9).

Consistent with our analysis in Thomas, where, as here, a
state’s constitution declares full rights of citizenship to be
restored upon a convicted felon’s rel ease fromcust ody, we need not
| ook further to determne that the restoration satisfies section
921(a)(20). That the |l egislature has barred fel ons fromserving on
juries is not inconsistent wwth that conclusion. The exercise of
the legislature’s power to establish qualifications for jurors
cannot be read as qualifying the plain |anguage of the state’s
constitution restoring “essentially all” of a discharged felon’s
civil rights.

Having found that the Louisiana Constitution restored
essentially all of Dupaquier’s civil rights, we go to step two and
ask whet her state | aw neverthel ess deprived Dupaqui er of the right

to possess a firearm Under La. Rev. Stat. Ann. section 14:95.1

(West 1986), it is unlawful for a convicted felon to possess a
firearm until ten years after the date of conpletion of his
sent ence. Thus, possession of a firearm becane |awful for

Dupaqui er after July 14, 1990. The conduct out of which the
instant charges arose occurred on or about August 8, 1990;

Dupaqui er was not at that tinme deprived of his right to possess a
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firearm

The governnment notes that, at the tinme Dupaqui er received his
certificate of discharge from state prison, Dupaquier was also
given an untitled and unsi gned docunent, which he was required to
sign, stating that “[t]his does not constitute a full pardon and
restoration of citizenship, and this does not entitle you to buy,
receive or possess firearns.” This docunent of uncertain
provenance cannot, of course, qualify the restoration of
citizenship provided for in the Louisiana Constitution; nor can it
extend the tine period during which Dupaquier was prohibited by
statute frompossessing a firearm |Indeed, the certificate points
to no authority that would give it any legal effect. Instead, the
certificate nerely provides a felon with notice that he has been
officially released from state custody and apprises him of his
then-current status under the | aw as we have described it. Nanely,
the certificate correctly infornms a felon that the certificate, or
di scharge fromstate custody, does not itself constitute a pardon,
expungenent, or restoration of civil rights. Afelon’s rights are
restored by operation of the Louisiana Constitution “upon
termnation of state and federal supervision,” which nmay in sone
cases include a termof supervised release or parole to be served
after the fel on has been discharged fromstate custody. Simlarly,
the certificate correctly inforns a felon that the certificate, or
di scharge fromstate custody, does not entitle himto buy, receive
or possess firearns. Pursuant to state statute, the fel on does not

regain the right to possess a firearmuntil ten years after the
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conpletion of his sentence. |In sum the certificate has no | egal
effect, but sinply provides a discharged felon with notice of his
then-current statuts under Lousiana |aw Therefore, it has no
bearing on our analysis.

As we have found that the Louisiana Constitution restored
essentially all of Dupaqgier’s civil rights upon conpletion of his
sentence on July 14, 1980, and the statutory restriction on his
right to possess firearns termnated on July 14, 1990, we hold that
Dupaqui er was not a convicted felon within the neaning of sections

921(a)(20) and 922(g)(1) at the time of the alleged conduct on

August 8, 1990. Hi s conviction on count one nust therefore be

reversed

B. The Enhancenent of Dupaquier’'s Sentence Under Section
924(e)

Dupaqui er was sentenced under 18 U S.C. section 924(e)(1)

(1988) (the Arnmed Career Crimnal Act) which provides:

In the case of a person who violates section

922(9) : : : and has three previous

convictions . . . for a violent felony or a

serious drug offense, or both, commtted on

occasions different from one another, such

person shall be . . . inprisoned not |ess than

fifteen years
| nasnuch as Dupaquier’s conviction under section 922(g) nust be
reversed, his sentence under section 924(e) nust necessarily be
vacated as well. W therefore do not reach the question whet her
the three predicate convictions in Louisiana state court in 1979
were “nmultiple convictions arising from nultiple crimna
transactions . . . [to] be treated as separate convictions [for

pur poses of section 924(e)(1)] . . . .” United States v. Herbert,




860 F.2d 620, 621-22 (5th Cr 1988), cert. denied, 490 U S. 1070

(1989), and reh’g denied, 492 U. S. 927 (1989).

C. The Validity of 18 U . S.C. 88 922(g) and 924(c)(1) and
26 U S.C. §8 5861(d)

Dupaqui er, relying on United States v. Lopez, us

115 S. C. 1624 (1995), argues that his convictions on all three
counts must be reversed. In Lopez, the Suprene Court held that
18 U. S. C. section 922(q)(1)(A) (Supp. V 1993) (the Gun-Free School s
Act) exceeded the power of Congress under the Commerce C ause of
the United States Constitution. By failing to raise this issue
bel ow, however, Dupaquier is barred fromraising it here for the
first tinme unless the district court commtted plain error.
Fed. R Crim P. 52(b). Plain error, including error with respect

to purely legal questions, is synonynous wth f‘clear’ or
‘obvious’” error and, “‘[a]Jt a mninum’ contenplates an error
which was ‘clear under current law at the tinme of the trial.”

United States v. Calverley, 37 F.3d 160, 162-63 (5th Gr. 1994) (en

banc) (quoting United States v. Q ano, us , 113 S. . 1770,

1777 (1993)), cert. denied, 115 S. . 1266 (1995). Because Lopez

was not yet decided at the time of Dupaquier’s trial and
sentenci ng, we cannot say that the district court commtted plain
error in failing to consider the validity of these statutes under
t he Commerce C ause.

We therefore reverse Dupaquier’s conviction on count one and
affirmon counts two and three. Because the sentences inposed by
the district court on the three counts were intertw ned, we vacate
the sentences on counts two and three and remand for resentencing.
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REVERSE in part, AFFIRM in part, and VACATE and REMAND f or

resent enci ng.
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